Version Number: 20012 - 1

BYLAWS OF

THE UNITARIAN UNIVERSALISTS OF GETTYSBURG

as adopted on May 11, 2003 and amended on May 23, 2004 and September 25, 2005 and May 3, 2009 and May 6, 2012

ARTICLE I - Name

The name of this religious community is The Unitarian Universalists of Gettysburg.

ARTICLE II - Denominational Affiliation

The Congregation shall be a member of the Unitarian Universalist Association and of its Joseph Priestley District. It is the intention of the Congregation to make annual financial contributions to the Association and the District equal to its fair share.

ARTICLE III - Mission

The Unitarian Universalists of Gettysburg join together as a religious community that inspires the mind and spirit, honors religious freedom, and embraces diversity. Its members minister to each other with love, and work for a just society.

ARTICLE IV - Membership

Section 1 - Admission to Membership. Any person sixteen (16) years or older, who is in sympathy with the Mission Statement of the Congregation and who has made a recorded financial contribution or performed service for the congregation, may sign the Membership Book in the presence of a member of the Membership Committee and either the Minister of the Congregation or a member of the Board of Directors. Membership in the Congregation shall be open to anyone meeting these requirements, regardless of religious background, political persuasion, age, race, gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, class, or disability.

Section 2 - Active members. Persons who have been members of the Congregation for at least thirty (30) days and have made a recorded financial contribution during the past six (6) months or performed service for the congregation during that time shall be considered active members. Those active members who are eighteen (18) years of age or older may vote at business meetings of the Congregation, hold elective office, and chair committees.

The total number of active members, as determined by the Membership Committee, shall constitute the official membership of the Congregation at business meetings and for denominational reports.

79 80

81 82

89

90

91

92

> 98 99

100

101

106 107 108

109 110 111

112

113

Section 3 - Inactive Members. Members who for a period of six (6) months have made no recorded financial contribution to the Congregation or performed no service for the congregation during that time may, by recommendation of the Membership Committee and vote of the Board of Directors, be moved to inactive status, and shall not be permitted to vote on any business that may come before the Congregation. be notified of this action by a letter sent to their last known address. Such persons may reactivate their memberships at any time by making a recorded financial contribution or performing service for the congregation.

Section 4 - Removal from Membership. Active members shall be removed from membership because of death or written notice given by them to the Membership Committee. With approval of the Board, a person may be removed from membership if the member has given verbal notice of his/her intent to do so. Members who have been on the Inactive List for at least two years may be removed from membership by recommendation of the Membership Committee and vote of the Board of Directors. Before such action is taken such persons shall be contacted directly by the Membership Committee to determine if they wish to remain as members, either on an active or an inactive basis.

ARTICLE V - The Congregation

Section 1 - Congregational Autonomy and Authority. The Congregation operates under the historic understanding of Congregational polity. The Congregation governs itself. Final authority in all matters resides in the Congregation and its members gathered in meeting.

Section 2 - Annual Business Meeting. The Annual Meeting of the Congregation shall be held within the first two weeks of May, at a time and place set by the Board. Included in the agenda shall be: election of members of the Board of Directors; presentation of the Annual Report; adoption of a budget for the ensuing fiscal year; any items placed by vote of the Board; and any items requested in writing by 10% of the active membership of the Congregation.

Section 3 - Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Congregation shall be from July 1 through June 30.

Section 4 - Fall Program Meeting. The Fall Program Meeting shall be held within the last two weeks of September. The main purpose of the meeting shall be to discuss current activities, plans, and programs of the Congregation for the coming year. Other business may be conducted at this meeting.

Section 5 - Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the Board or the Chair, or by written request to the Board by at least 10% of the active membership of the Congregation.

Section 6 - Notice of Meetings. Announcement of the date of the upcoming May Annual Meeting will be made during the September Program Meeting. Similarly, announcement of the upcoming September Program Meeting shall be made during the May Annual Meeting. Further, the Board Secretary shall send notice of the Annual Business Meeting, the Fall

Program Meeting, and Special Meetings by mail to all members of the Congregation at least 10 days before the meeting date. Notice may be sent by email to persons for whom the congregation has a valid email address and who have not requested notice by U.S. Mail instead of email. Such notice shall state the date, hour, place and agenda of the meeting, and for the Annual Meeting, nominations from the Nominating Committee or by petition.

Section 7 - Quorums.

- 7.1. Except as provided for in other sections of these Bylaws, the quorum at business meetings shall be 25% of the active membership, but not less than ten active members of the Congregation.
- 7.2. At business meetings considering calling a minister, acquiring or disposing of real property, encumbering the Congregation with new indebtedness exceeding 10% of the current operating budget or spending of Reserve Funds Principal, the quorum shall be 35% of the active membership, but not less than 10 active members of the Congregation.
- <u>Section 8 Decisions</u>. Motions made at a legal meeting of the Congregation shall be carried by majority vote of the members present unless specifically required to be greater in these Bylaws, and shall be binding upon the Board and all its agencies and organizations.

ARTICLE VI - The Board

Section 1 - General Powers and Responsibilities. Subject to the direction of the Congregation, the Board shall have charge of the Congregation's property, business affairs and administration, and have power to receive and administer gifts and trusts. Authority over the administrative staff is vested in the Board, except as stated otherwise in these Bylaws. The Board shall exercise those powers of a Board of Directors enumerated in the Non-Profit Corporation Law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The Board shall maintain a written policy manual setting forth the name and function of each standing and special committee created by the Board, and such other policies as the Board shall adopt. Each Board Member shall be concerned, however, with the total program of the Congregation and shall serve as a communication link with the Congregation concerning the total program.

Section 2 - Membership. The Board shall consist of the lesser of 9 members - or 10% of the membership rounded up to the next odd number - to include the Chair, Vice Chair, Secretary, and Finance Director. The immediate past Chair shall also be a member for a term of one year, but shall have no vote unless that person is otherwise a member of the Board.

Section 3 - Election of Board Members.

3.1. - At each Annual Meeting of the Congregation, three Board Members shall be elected for a three-year term with an option to be nominated and reelected for subsequent terms. Board members shall not serve more than two three-year terms consecutively. A member may fill an additional consecutive partial term vacancy immediately preceding or following the two consecutive three-year terms.

178 179

186

187

188

199

200

193

194

206

207

213

214

215

227

- 3.2. Voting. All votes at congregational meetings must be cast in person or by absentee ballot.
- 3.3. Absentee ballots. Members unable to attend congregational meetings may vote on the Board election using signed numbered ballots provided by the Board Secretary. All absentee ballots must be received by the Board Secretary no later than one hour prior to the meeting.

Section 4 - Election of Officers.

- 4.1. The newly elected board shall meet prior to July 1 solely for the purpose of electing its officers. Officers shall serve a one-year term and may be reelected to additional terms. The election of officers shall take place during June so that a fully-appointed Board shall be in place prior to July 1.
- Section 5 Vacancies. A vacancy on the Board or of a committee chair shall be filled by a person elected by a majority vote of the remaining Board members. The term of a person filling a vacancy shall be until the end of the fiscal year.
- Section 6 Removal. Any Board Member absent for three consecutive meetings of the Board, without notice given to the Chair or Secretary, shall be considered to have resigned. Any Board Member may be removed by vote of two-thirds of the members present at any meeting of the Congregation called for that purpose.
- Section 7 Succession. The new Board shall take office on July 1 following the Annual Meeting and shall be convened by the Chair during the month of July.
- Section 8 Regular Meetings of the Board. The Board shall meet at least once every month on a regular basis. Date, time and place shall be publicized to the Congregation, meetings are open to all members of the Congregation, and minutes shall be available on request.
- Section 9 Special Meetings of the Board. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the Chair or any two Board members. Date, time and place of any such meeting must be specified in the notice, which shall be given at least three days prior to the meeting. Advance notice may be waived by unanimous consent of the Board. Minutes shall be available on request.
- Section 10 Executive Sessions. The Board may go into executive session at any regular or special meeting. Any action taken in Executive Session shall be reviewed at an open meeting of the Board, except in cases where confidentiality is essential. Executive Session attendance shall be limited to Board members. Other persons may be invited by the Board.
- Section 11 Quorum. A majority of the Board members shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any Board meeting.
- Section 12 Informal Action. Action taken by a majority of the Board without a meeting, when an attempt has been made to contact all members, is valid Board action. All such actions shall be subject to review at the next regular or special meeting of the Board.

Section 13 - Notification. The names of the new Board and its Officers shall be published in the issue of the newsletter first published following the election.

ARTICLE VII - Responsibilities of Officers

Section 1 - Chair. The Chair, as the principal officer of the Congregation and the Board, shall oversee the business and program of the Congregation, as decided upon by the Board and subject to these Bylaws. The Chair shall also preside at meetings of the Board and the Congregation.

 $\underline{\text{Section 2 - Vice Chair}}.$ The Vice Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair in his/her absence, and such other duties as the Board may direct.

Section 3 - Secretary. The Secretary shall keep minutes of meetings of the Board and the Congregation, give meeting notices as required, maintain the Policy Manual, prepare denominational reports, handle formal Board correspondence, and perform other duties as the Board may direct.

Section 4 - Finance Director. The Finance Director shall be responsible for preparation of the proposed budget for the Annual Membership Meeting. The Finance Director shall provide oversight for the annual pledge drive and other fund-raising activities undertaken by the Congregation members. The Finance Director shall also chair the Finance Committee.

Section 5 - Treasurer. - The Treasurer shall be appointed by the Board and shall be responsible for the maintenance and preservation of the financial books and records of the Congregation. The Treasurer shall keep accurate and up-to-date records of Congregation finances, and shall have the authority to sign checks and make deposits and/or withdrawals of Congregation funds. The Treasurer shall report monthly to the Board and the membership on the financial condition of the Congregation. The Treasurer shall be bonded in accordance with limits established by the Board. The President, Vice-President, Finance Director, and Treasurer shall be authorized to sign checks. Two signatures shall be required on all checks except for those encompassed by policies and procedures duly adopted by the Board.

ARTICLE VIII - Committees

 $\underline{\text{Section 1 - Committee chairs}}$. Committee chairs must be members of the Congregation. Committee members need not be Congregation members, except as required elsewhere.

<u>Section 2 - Standing Committees</u>. The standing committees of the Congregation shall be Resource and Stewardship, Members and Friends, Faith and Community, and Worship. The purposes and responsibilities of committees shall be described in the Policy Manual.

2.1. - Term. The chair of each committee shall be elected by the committee members for a one-year term and may be elected for a maximum of three terms consecutively.

- Section 3 Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committee shall consist of at least 3 members, all of whom shall be Church members for at least one year prior to their election, and shall not have been members of the previous Nominating Committee. The members shall be chosen at the General Meeting. In the event of a vacancy on the Nominating Committee, the Board shall elect a replacement from the qualified Church members. The Nominating Committee shall elect its own Chair.
- 3.1 The Nominating Committee shall announce its nominations for the board, committee chairs, and the next nominating committee in time for inclusion in the printed materials for the months of March and April.
- 3.2. Nominations for the Board may be made by written petition, signed by at least 10% of the active membership of the Congregation and filed with the Board Secretary at least three weeks before the Annual Meeting.

Section 4 - Other Committees.

- 4.1. Committees other than standing committees shall be established by the Board in one of two ways:
 - 1. Members of the Congregation who perceive a need for a new committee shall write a mission statement and submit it to the Board for approval.
 - 2. The Board may see the need for a new committee, write a mission statement and solicit members of the Congregation to join.
- 4.2. At the discretion of the Board, a committee other than a standing committee may be disbanded for, but not limited to, the following reasons:
 - the committee has had no members besides the Chair for a period of four months or more and is not a standing committee;
 - 2. the Board, in consultation with the committee, decides that the mission of the committee has been achieved; or,
 - 3. the committee violates the policies and/or the Bylaws of the Congregation.

Section 5 - Ad Hoc Committees.

- 5.1. The Board may from time to time create Ad Hoc Committees for special needs, functions, or timely action, such as a rummage sale or talent auction. Such committees shall be composed of persons solicited by the Board, and are also open to any interested members of the Congregation or the community.
- 5.2. The Board shall determine the mission statement, scope and responsibilities of Ad Hoc Committees.

5.3. - The chair for an Ad Hoc Committee may be appointed by the Board or chosen by the committee's members.

ARTICLE IX - Staff

The Board may hire staff or independent contractors to serve the needs of the Congregation, within budgetary limits set by the Congregation. The Board shall be responsible for describing staff roles and responsibilities, work hours, compensation, supervision, and establishing procedures for issuing W2-Forms, Social Security and Income Tax withholding, and possible employee benefits. Staff members shall have a yearly performance and compensation review conducted by Board-designated persons or committees.

ARTICLE X - Review and Amendment

The Bylaws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of those active members present and voting at any meeting of the Congregation called for that purpose. Proposed changes may come from the Board, a committee designated by the board, or by petition of 10% of the active membership of the Congregation. Proposed changes must be given to the Board Secretary at least thirty days before the meeting, and must be included in the call to the meeting.

ARTICLE XI - Dissolution

If the Congregation ceases to function as a religious community and the membership votes to disband, all assets of the Congregation, whether real or personal, shall be transferred to the Joseph Priestley District or successor organization of the Unitarian Universalist Association, to be held by the District to aid other Unitarian Universalist Congregations in the District. This provision shall apply to all property donated to the Congregation whether by Will or in some other manner, unless the donor expressly provides otherwise. No member of the congregation shall profit from the dissolution of the congregation.

ARTICLE XII - Rules of Procedure

The rules contained in The Modern Rules of Order, published by the Pennsylvania Bar Institute, shall guide this Congregation in the conduct of its meetings to the extent that they are not inconsistent with the Bylaws. Any dispute involving interpretation of the provisions of these Bylaws shall be decided by majority vote of the full Board. Such decision shall be final unless appealed by any member of the Congregation and overruled by majority vote at a Congregational meeting held in compliance with these Bylaws.

Signature Page The following members of the Board of Directors of the Unitarian Universalists of Gettysburg have signed the foregoing Bylaws of The Unitarian Universalists of Gettysburg, adopted May 11, 2003: Signature Date A. Bruce Boenau Prudence Aliminosa Reichart Ralph H. Taylor 414 George Eschbach Bruce Neylon Jeanne Neylon Florence Tarbox William Swiderski